SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-1022

TIARA CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC., a Florida nonprofit corporation, in its own name and as agent for all owners of record of all individual condominium parcels with the Tiara Condominium,

Movant/Appellant,

v.

MARSH & MCLENNAN COMPANIES, INC., a Delaware corporation; MARSH, INC.; and MARSH, USA, INC.,

Respondent/Appellee.

Lower Tribunal No. 09-11718-GG

MOVANT/APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

QUESTION CERTIFIED FROM THE UNITED STATES ELEVENTH CIRCUIT COURT OF APPEALS

MCALPINE & ASSOCIATES, P.C. MARK L. MCALPINE

Attorney for Movant/Appellant 3201 University Drive, Suite 100 Auburn Hills, Michigan 48326 Telephone: (248) 373-3700

QUESTIONS OF LAW AS REPHRASED BY TIARA

- 1. Is an insured's claim against its insurance broker for breach of fiduciary duty subject to the economic loss rule?
- 2. Is an insured's claim against its insurance broker for negligence subject to the economic loss rule?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Tiara Condominium Association, Inc. ("Tiara") sued Marsh USA, Inc. ("Marsh"), its insurance broker, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida. Tiara asserted claims for (1) breach of contract; (2) negligent misrepresentation; (3) breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (4) negligence; and (5) breach of fiduciary duty. Tiara based the first three claims primarily on allegations that Marsh failed to procure a policy providing "per occurrence" coverage. Tiara based its latter two claims for negligence and breach of fiduciary duty on allegations that Marsh was negligent in failing to procure an insurance policy providing appropriate coverage and that Marsh's actions fell short of performing its duties as Tiara's insurance broker and fiduciary. The district

court dismissed all counts on summary judgment,¹ and it denied without opinion Tiara's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment and for Relief from Judgment.²

On appeal, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit affirmed dismissal of Tiara's claims for breach of contract, negligent misrepresentation, and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing.³ The court affirmed dismissal of the breach of contract claim holding that the "there are no contractual provisions in the oral agreement that extended Marsh's responsibility beyond that which was stated in the written agreement" to procure the policy.⁴ The court affirmed dismissal of the negligent misrepresentation claim, holding that "Marsh correctly interpreted the policy as containing a per-occurrence limit of liability."⁵ And the court affirmed dismissal of the breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing claim citing a lack of "evidence that any of the alleged errors made by Marsh were intentional or made in bad faith."⁶

As for the breach of fiduciary duty and negligence claims, the court recognized that, under Florida law, "insurance agents and insurance brokers have

¹ Docket 179.

² Docket 180; Docket 187.

³ Tiara Condo. Assn v. Marsh & McLennan Cos., Inc., — F.3d —, 2010 WL 2105923 (11th Cir. May 27, 2010).

⁴ *Id.* at *3.

⁵ *Id*.

⁶ *Id*.

some extra-contractual duties."⁷ Despite these extra-contractual duties, the court decided "Florida law is not sufficiently clear" on whether the tort claims are barred under the economic loss rule "to the extent that Tiara's claims are based on [extra-contractual] collateral failures" such as "Marsh's failure to advise Tiara of its belief that it was under-insured and properly advise it regarding its complete insurance needs."⁸ Noting that an "exception to the economic loss rule applies where the contract at issue relates to the provision of professional services," the court held that it is "not clear whether an insurance broker provides professional services under Florida law."⁹ The court "conclude[d] that the question of whether the economic loss rule bars tort claims brought against insurance brokers is unsettled under Florida law and should be certified to the Supreme Court of Florida" under Fla. R. App. P. 9.150(a).¹⁰

_

⁷ *Id.* at *4.

⁸ *Id*.

⁹ *Id*.

¹⁰ *Id.* at *4-5.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS¹¹

A. Tiara's Relationship with Marsh.

Tiara is a condominium association whose members own homes in the Tiara condominium tower on Singer Island, Florida. Tiara is managed by an all-volunteer Board of Governors (the "Board"), which relies upon the advice of retained professionals in making business decisions and in administering the common elements of the condominium property.¹²

In 2002, Tiara interviewed several firms vying to become its insurance broker and risk manager.¹³ Tiara retained Marsh based on Marsh's claims of exceptional size, experience, resources, and service beyond that offered by other insurance brokers and risk managers.¹⁴ Marsh made clear that it was not only Tiara's exclusive broker, but also Tiara's "exclusive insurance, risk management, and risk financing advisor."¹⁵ From that point forward, Tiara relied on Marsh to advise it with respect to the universe of Tiara's insurance needs and potential risks.¹⁶ Indeed, the Marsh account executive in charge of Tiara's account, Neil

¹¹ Tiara respectfully offers this abbreviated Statement of Facts to exclude those facts that are not directly related to the issues under review by this Court.

¹² Docket 104-2 at 116:15-117:11.

¹³ Docket 104-4, Quinlan Dep. at 37:8-13; 45:12-46:23.

¹⁴ Docket 104-4, Quinlan Dep. at 38:2-13.

¹⁵ *Id*.

¹⁶ Docket 104-4, Quinlan Dep. at 28-32.

Hewitt,¹⁷ was the most integral member of Tiara's insurance committee, regularly attending and participating in insurance committee meetings.¹⁸

Upon its engagement, Marsh undertook a review of Tiara's insurance coverages. ¹⁹ Marsh specifically agreed to determine whether coverage should be increased. ²⁰ Toward that end, Tiara provided Marsh with a March 1, 2002 appraisal (itself based on a 1998 appraisal), which had been performed by Allied Appraisal Services, Inc. ("Allied"). ²¹ Tiara asked Marsh whether the 2002 Allied appraisal was sufficient for insurance purposes, and Marsh responded that it was. ²²

In April 2004, Marsh presented an insurance proposal to Tiara for the renewal of Tiara's Windstorm coverage with Citizens Property Insurance Corporation ("Citizens"). Marsh proposed that Tiara obtain a Windstorm Policy with a limit of \$49,970,350,²⁴ which it represented as being sufficient for Tiara's

¹⁷ Docket 180 at 9.

¹⁸ Docket 104-4, Ouinlan Dep., at 60:3-15; 78:2-14.

¹⁹ Docket 104-4, Quinlan Dep., at 32:5-17; Docket 104-5, Croes Dep., at 27:12-16.

²⁰ Docket 104-5, Croes Dep., at 27:12-28:13, 41:1-8; Docket 104-4, Quinlan Dep., at 30:9-12.

²¹ Docket 104-8.

²² Docket 104-4, Quinlan Dep., at 123:11-15; Docket 104-23, February 18, 2004 Marsh Letter.

²³ Docket 104-4, Quinlan Dep., at 182:2-16.

²⁴ Docket 104-2 at 9.

needs.²⁵ Following Marsh's advice, Tiara accepted the coverage that Marsh proposed.²⁶

B. Tiara's Insurance Shortfall.

Tiara sustained substantial damage from both Hurricane Frances and Hurricane Jeanne in 2004. Tiara's damages substantially exceeded \$100 million (more than twice its policy limit). Thus, it became clear that Tiara was woefully underinsured. Marsh's Neil Hewitt now admits that, when Marsh proposed Tiara's Windstorm coverage, he believed Tiara to be underinsured. Nonetheless, he did not instruct Tiara to get a new appraisal or to increase its coverage limits. ²⁸

To increase its insurance recovery from Citizens, Tiara argued that it should receive two policy limits because the damage it suffered came from two separate hurricanes. In July 2005, Citizens notified Tiara of its position that two policy limits were not available under the Policy. When Tiara brought action against Citizens, Citizens defended against Tiara's claims on grounds that (a) Tiara had been underinsured (thus violating Tiara's "co-insurance requirement" and relieving Citizens of significant payment obligations) and (b) only one policy limit was

²⁵ Docket 104-4, Quinlan Dep., at 188:21-189:2.

²⁶ Docket 104-4, Quinlan Dep., at 187:16-24.

²⁷ Docket 104-6, Hewitt Dep., at 178:14-16.

²⁸ Docket 104-4, Quinlan Dep., at 243:22-23.

available.²⁹ Tiara later settled its lawsuit with Citizens for an amount that represented an insurance shortfall of more than \$30 million.³⁰

C. Marsh's Breach of Its Duties to Tiara.

Tiara argued in the district court and before the Eleventh Circuit that Marsh was contractually obligated to properly advise Tiara on its complete insurance needs. The Eleventh Circuit, however, found that Tiara's oral contract with Marsh was limited to the contents of the engagement letter, *i.e.*, to procure insurance coverage.³¹ Thus, the court concluded that any obligation of Marsh to advise Tiara that it was under-insured, or to properly advise Tiara regarding its complete insurance need, was "extra-contractual."³²

Marsh never informed Tiara of any co-insurance requirement of the Citizens Wind Policy, and it never informed Tiara of any other underinsurance risk that Tiara faced.³³ Yet Marsh recognized that, as Tiara's broker and advisor (and thus

²⁹ Docket 104-3, Adams Dep., at 180:23-181:10; 183:14-184:3; Docket 104-9, Kass Dep., at 146:23 25; 148:18-25.

³⁰ Docket 104-9, Kass Dep., at 131:12-21; Docket 180-2 at 4-6.

³¹ Tiara Condo. Assn v. Marsh & McLennan Cos., Inc., — F.3d —, 2010 WL 2105923, at *3 (11th Cir. May 27, 2010) (holding that there were no "contractual provisions in the oral agreement that extended Marsh's responsibility beyond that which was stated in the written agreement").

³² *Id.* at *4.

³³ Docket 104-3, Quinlan Dep., at 153:8-17.

fiduciary), it owed a significant standard of care to Tiara irrespective of the contract.³⁴

Tiara produced three reports of experts who offered opinions to the effect that Marsh breached its duties as Tiara's insurance broker; that Marsh should have known that Tiara was under-insured; that such under-insurance offered Citizens a defense to coverage; and that Marsh's breach of its duties caused Tiara to incur more than \$40 million in losses.³⁵ With these opinions and the other evidence presented to the court, Tiara argued that Marsh tortiously breached its duties to Tiara in the following ways:

Failing to Obtain Adequate Coverage Limits. Marsh knowingly based its coverage limits on an out-dated appraisal that understated Tiara's value. Thus Marsh knew that Tiara was underinsured. Marsh failed to advise Tiara to obtain an updated appraisal or the correct type of appraisal (including debris removal), and it specifically denied that an updated appraisal was necessary. These failures by Marsh not only left Tiara with insufficient coverage for Tiara's entire loss, but they enabled

³⁴ Docket 104-6, Hewitt Dep., at 122:21-22.

³⁵ Docket 104-26, Report of Wlliam Walker (detailing duties and breaches of insurance broker); Docket 104-27, Report of William D. Hager (breach of duty); Docket 104-28, Report of Carl Fedde (drying equipment rental charges alone exceed \$19 million).

Citizens to assert a defense to coverage based on the Windstorm Policy's coinsurance requirement.

- Failing to Obtain "Law or Ordinance Coverage." Marsh failed to obtain coverage (through Citizens or other supplemental insurance provider) for the costs of repairing the building in accordance with contemporary laws and ordinances. Marsh knew that Tiara would be required to make any repairs in accordance with those contemporary law and ordinances, and it acknowledged the importance of law or ordinance coverage as it was preparing an insurance package for Tiara. Marsh, however, failed to inform Tiara that its coverage limits were insufficient to cover all costs of repair (less deductible), and it failed to advise Tiara to obtain supplemental coverage to address the additional repair costs occasioned by contemporary laws and ordinances.
- Failing to Obtain Coverage for Remediation and Other "Soft Costs." Marsh failed to advise Tiara of the substantial remediation expenses that occur in connection with hurricane repairs, and it failed to obtain for Tiara insurance coverage limits that would address those additional expenses. Instead, Marsh based Tiara's coverage limits solely on an appraisal of Tiara which, on its face, did not account for remediation costs, for catastrophe-related labor and material cost increases, and for other

so-called soft costs such as debris removal, protection of the building, or temporary construction costs.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Eleventh Circuit has requested clarification from this Court as to whether breach of fiduciary duty and negligence claims against an insurance broker qualify for the economic loss rule's exception for professional malpractice. But regardless of whether insurance brokers are "professionals," the economic loss rule does not apply. First, an examination of this Court's jurisprudence on the economic loss rule indicates that the rule no longer applies to a contract for services. Although this Court applied the economic loss rule to a case involving a contract for services in *AFM Corp. v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co.*, ³⁶ it later receded from *AFM* to the extent that its result was based on the economic loss rule. As it stands, the economic loss rule is apparently limited to the products liability context, and this is not a products liability case.

Second, even if the economic loss rule did apply to a services contract, an exception applies to independent torts. Both of Tiara's claims are independent torts premised on extra-contractual conduct. Florida courts, including this one, have recognized that insurance brokers owe extra-contractual duties to an insured. Marsh violated its extra-contractual duties by, among other things, failing to advise

10

³⁶ 515 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1987).

Tiara of its belief that Tiara was under-insured and failing to properly advise Tiara regarding its complete insurance needs. Because such duties are extra-contractual, Tiara has no recourse in contract; its recourse instead lies in well-established common law causes of action: breach of fiduciary duty and negligence.

Third, in *Wachovia Ins. Servs., Inc. v. Toomey*,³⁷ this Court recently held that the trial court erred in dismissing an insured's claims against its insurance broker for breach of fiduciary duty and negligence, notwithstanding the privity of contract between the insured and broker. Although the Court's decision does not discuss the economic loss rule, *Toomey* cannot be reconciled with the doctrine's application to claims for breach of fiduciary duty and negligence against an insurance broker.

Finally, insurance brokers are "professionals" for purposes of the economic loss rule because an insurance brokerage contract is not an ordinary contract for goods or services: Brokers owe fiduciary and other duties to the insured that are akin to the professional duties owed by attorneys and accountants.

For these reasons, this Court should answer the certified question by holding that Tiara's claims for breach of fiduciary duty and negligence are not barred by the economic loss rule.

_

³⁷ 994 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 2008).

ARGUMENT

A. Legal Standards.

Because the question certified by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals is a pure question of law, the standard of review is de novo.³⁸

B. This Court Should Restate the Certified Questions.

This Court has wide discretion to reframe the certified issues as it sees fit.³⁹ The Eleventh Circuit itself noted in its opinion that this Court "retains the discretion to restate the issue and to answer the question in the manner it chooses."⁴⁰ A restatement is necessary here because the Eleventh Circuit's certified question improperly assumes that the viability of Tiara's claims rests on whether brokers are "professionals":

DOES AN INSURANCE BROKER PROVIDE A "PROFESSIONAL SERVICE" SUCH THAT THE INSURANCE BROKER IS UNABLE TO SUCCESSFULLY ASSERT THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE AS A BAR TO TORT CLAIMS SEEKING ECONOMIC DAMAGES THAT ARISE FROM THE CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE INSURANCE BROKER AND THE INSURED?⁴¹

³⁸ Jackson-Shaw Co. v. Jacksonville Aviation Auth., 8 So. 3d 1076, 1085 (Fla. 2008).

³⁹ See, e.g., Indem. Ins. Co. of N. Am. v. Am. Aviation, Inc., 891 So. 2d 532, 534 (Fla. 2004) (rephrasing certified questions from the Eleventh Circuit relating to the economic loss rule); 5 Am. Jur. 2d Appellate Review § 916 ("Unless constrained by a statute, a state supreme court may dispense with or disregard the question certified to it and proceed to determine what it considers to be the true issues in the case").

⁴⁰ Tiara Condo. Assn, 2010 WL 210592, at *5.

⁴¹ *Id*.

The court's question is burdened by a false premise: Brokers need not be "professionals" for Tiara's claims to be excepted from the economic loss rule. To be sure, professional malpractice claims are indeed excepted from the economic loss rule as held by this Court in *Moransais v. Heathman*. ⁴² But this exception is one of many. Moransais' holding, moreover, is simply an expression of the broader principal that torts based on extra-contractual duties are excepted from the economic loss rule. 43 In *Moransais*, the Court took care to "emphasize that by recognizing that the economic loss rule may have some genuine, but limited, value in [Florida's] damages law, [the Supreme Court] never intended to bar wellestablished common law causes of action."44 So the true issue is whether an insured's claims for negligence and breach of fiduciary duty are "well-established common law causes of action." This inquiry requires an examination of the cause of action—not the label given to the tortfeasor.

Because there are two causes of action at issue in this case, there should be two separate questions restated as follows:

⁴² 744 So.2d 973 (Fla. 1999).

⁴³ See Witt v. La Gorce Country Club, Inc., -- So. 3d --, 2010 WL 2292104, at *4 (Fla. 3d DCA June 9, 2010) (noting that in *Moransais*, "the Florida Supreme Court implicitly acknowledged that claims of professional negligence operate outside of the contract").

⁴⁴ *Id*. at 983.

- I. IS AN INSURED'S CLAIM AGAINST ITS INSURANCE BROKER FOR BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY SUBJECT TO THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE?
- II. IS AN INSURED'S CLAIM AGAINST ITS INSURANCE BROKER FOR NEGLIGENCE SUBJECT TO THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE?

Under this Court's jurisprudence on the economic loss rule, neither claim is subject to the economic loss rule. Both are well-established common law causes of action. And both are excepted from the economic loss rule as independent torts premised on extra-contractual duties.

C. Since 1987, This Court Has Consistently Limited the Application of the Economic Loss Rule to Products Liability Cases.

On twelve occasions this Court has examined the economic loss rule, a judicial creation,⁴⁵ beginning with a trio of cases in 1987. Although on one occasion the Court held that the economic loss rule applies in the context of a services contract, it has since receded from that holding, rationalizing the result on contractual principles, rather than the economic loss rule. As a consequence, the

⁴⁵ See Moransais, 744 So. 2d at 979 ("The 'economic loss' rule is a court-created doctrine which prohibits the extension of tort recovery for cases in which a product has damaged only itself and there is no personal injury or damage to 'other property,' and the losses or damage are economic in nature.") (quoting Southland Const., Inc. v. Richeson Corp., 642 So. 2d 5, 7 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994)) (emphasis added)); Fla. Power & Light Co. v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp., 510 So.2d 899, 900-01 (Fla. 1987) (noting that a majority of jurisdictions have adopted the economic loss doctrine based on a judicial policy determination that contract principles are more appropriate than tort principles for resolving certain economic loss claims).

current state of the law appears to be that the economic loss rule is limited to the products liability context.

The first of the 1987 cases was *Florida Power & Light Co. v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp.*⁴⁶ There, an energy company contracted with a manufacturer for the provision of two nuclear steam systems, which proved defective. This Court surveyed the two leading cases on the products liability economic loss doctrine: the California Supreme Court's decision in *Seely v. White Motor Co.*⁴⁷ and the United States Supreme Court's decision in *East River S.S. Corp. v. Transamerica Delaval, Inc.*⁴⁸ Both cases held that "a manufacturer in a commercial relationship has no duty under either a negligence or strict products-liability theory to prevent a product from injuring itself." Finding these cases persuasive, this Court held that a purchaser of goods could not recover economic losses in tort without a claim for personal injury or damage to property other than the defective goods. ⁵⁰

⁴⁶⁵¹⁰ So. 2d 899 (Fla. 1987).

⁴⁷63 Cal. 2d 9 (1965) (holding that "[e]ven in actions for negligence, a manufacturer's liability is limited to damages for physical injuries and there is no recovery for economic loss alone").

⁴⁸ 476 U.S. 858 (1986).

⁴⁹ *Id.* at 871; *see also Indem. Ins. Co. of N. Am.*, 891 So. 2d at 540 ("Relying on *Seely* and *East River*, this Court adopted the products liability economic loss rule in *Florida Power & Light Co.* []").

⁵⁰ Fla. Power & Light Co., 510 So. 2d at 902.

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