IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SC10-1022

TIARA CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Movant/Appellant,

v.

MARSH & McLENNAN COS., INC., MARSH INC., MARSH USA INC.,

Respondents/Appellees.

On Certification From The United States Court of Appeals For The Eleventh Circuit (Case No. 09-11718-GG)

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS/APPELLEES

Mitchell J. Auslander Christopher J. St. Jeanos WILLKIE FARR & GALLAGHER LLP 787 Seventh Avenue New York, New York 10019 (212) 728-8000 Attorneys for Respondents/Appellees

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Tiara virtually ignores the question certified by the Eleventh Circuit, devoting only the final four pages of its 50-page brief to the question of whether insurance brokers provide "professional services" for purposes of the economic loss rule. Tiara's reluctance to engage the certified question is understandable, for Florida law holds that insurance brokers are not "professionals" because they do not require a four-year degree to practice their vocation nor do they possess any of the other normal indicia of professional status, such as a code of ethics subjecting them to disciplinary violations.

Marsh's status as a non-professional resolves the only remaining issue on appeal. There is no dispute here that the parties were in contractual privity. And when parties are in privity, the Florida economic loss rule bars tort claims, like Tiara's, that seek solely economic damages.

Florida's economic loss rule is premised on the public policy that parties in contractual privity should establish their obligations and allocate their risks by the contract; those allocations are not subject to expansion or revision by resort to tort remedies. Here, the parties' contract spelled out numerous specific duties and allocated various risks. Tiara's suit seeks to impose additional duties that, while not specifically included in the contract (and hence not giving rise to a breach of contract claim), are nonetheless within the subject matter as to which the parties were contracting (provision of insurance brokering services and advice), and thus could and should have been included if they were to support a remedy for breach.

Tiara, in fact, alleges that violations of these supposed duties constituted breaches of contract. And the district court found (in a holding undisturbed on appeal) that the very same conduct alleged to constitute negligence and breach of fiduciary duty was also alleged as a breach of contract. In other words, Tiara's allegations of breach of contract were inextricably intertwined with its tort claims.

12

Tiara's tort claims attempt to abrogate the bargained-for agreement; in essence, Tiara, through tort, seeks a better bargain than it originally made. The economic loss rule bars such an effort, unless one of the limited, recognized exceptions — of which the "professional services" exception is the only one relevant to this case applies. Because the district court did not address whether the "professional services" exception applies, the Eleventh Circuit properly certified that question the only remaining relevant question in the case — to this Court.

In seeking to rephrase the certified question, Tiara ignores settled Florida law and misreads the district court and circuit court decisions. Tiara seeks to cast doubt on the applicability of the economic loss rule to contracts for services, a rule that was first enunciated in *AFM Corp. v. Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph* $Co..^5$ Tiara wrongly suggests that the *AFM* holding has since been discredited; in fact, since *AFM*, this Court has repeatedly reaffirmed — sometimes over explicit minority opinions, and as recently as June 2010 — that the economic loss rule applies to *both* products liability suits where there is no property damage or personal injury *and* to suits for economic losses where the parties are in contractual privity (whether the contract is for products or services). And contrary to Tiara's attempts to convince this Court to revisit those repeated holdings by portraying the

⁵ 515 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 1987).

Florida rule as an aberration, many states apply the economic loss rule to contracts for services as well as products. There is no occasion to revisit Florida's longstanding rule here.

Tiara also misreads the Eleventh Circuit's opinion in claiming that the Court somehow already found that the negligence and breach of fiduciary claims are "independent" tort claims premised on alleged breaches of "extra-contractual" duties. Instead, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the district court's ruling that the alleged tortious acts were intertwined with (if not identical to) the alleged breaches of contract. Had the court concluded otherwise, and found that Tiara's tort claims are truly "independent" of its contract claims, the economic loss rule would not have applied to begin with, and there would have been no need to certify any question to this Court as to whether the "professional service" exception to the economic loss rule applies.

That the "collateral failures" were held not to give rise to breach of contract claims (because they were not among the agreed-upon duties specifically delineated in the detailed contract) does not mean that they provide the basis for "independent" tort claims. To the contrary, the entire purpose of the "contractual privity" economic loss rule is to prevent plaintiffs who have contracted with defendants from imposing, under the guise of "independent torts," duties arising out of the subject matter of the parties' contract, though not specifically included therein.

Here, Tiara *alleges* that the same failures constituting the supposedly "independent torts" are, in fact, breaches of contract. As numerous courts have held, such claims trigger the economic loss rule. Where a plaintiff alleges breach of fiduciary duty or negligence claims intertwined with the *claim* for breach of contract (that is, part of the subject matter of the contract), the economic loss rule applies. This is true regardless of whether the contract claim has any merit, or actually provides a remedy for the claimed failure, or is even pleaded.

For this reason, Tiara's argument premised on this Court's decision in *Toomey*, that insurance brokers can be liable for breach of fiduciary duty or negligence, is misplaced. *Toomey* did not discuss the economic loss rule, much less reject the proposition that tort claims intertwined with the contract are barred by the rule. Rather, as one court recently noted: "While the economic loss rule does not automatically bar a breach of fiduciary duty claim, the rule does apply when the claim for breach of fiduciary duty is based upon and inextricably intertwined with the claim for breach of contract."⁶ That is the case here, as the district court found. Tiara's contention that the only proper questions for

⁶ Action Nissan, Inc. v. Hyundai Motors of Am., 617 F. Supp. 2d 1177, 1192-93 (M.D. Fla. 2008).

certification are whether an insured's claims against a broker for breach of fiduciary duty or negligence are "subject to the economic loss rule" is therefore fundamentally flawed and should be rejected.

ARGUMENT

I. INSURANCE BROKERS ARE NOT "PROFESSIONALS" FOR PURPOSES OF THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE.

Three prior decisions by this Court establish that the Eleventh Circuit's certified question — whether insurance brokers are professionals for purposes of the economic loss rule — should be answered in the negative.

This Court first established a test for determining whether a given occupation is deemed a "profession" under Florida law in *Pierce v. AALL Insurance Inc.*, 531 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 1988). In *Pierce*, the issue before the Court was whether an *insurance agent* was a "professional" under Section 95.11(4)(a) of the Florida Statutes, Florida's professional malpractice statute of limitations. *Id.* at 85. In analyzing that issue, the Court reviewed not only the statutory language and legislative history, but also the common law usage of the term "professional" and its dictionary meaning. *Id.* at 86-87.

As a result of that analysis, the Court concluded that "[e]ducation is the common factor among all vocations which are considered professions" and "[i]t is this specialized education and academic preparation which we believe distinguishes a profession from other occupations." *Id.* at 87-88. Accordingly, the

Court held that "a profession [is] a vocation requiring, as a minimum standard, a college degree in the specific field." *Id.* at 87. Applying that standard to the defendant in that case, the Court held that *insurance agents are not professionals* for purposes of the statute of limitations, because "no degree in any field is required to become an insurance agent." *Id.* The Court also found it significant that "insurance agents are not subject to discipline for violations of an ethical code," and that "[n]o showing of good moral character need be made by one applying to sell insurance in Florida." *Id.* at 88. *Pierce* is thus virtually on point, yet *Tiara does not even cite it.*⁷

Four years after *Pierce* was decided, in *Garden v. Frier*, 602 So. 2d 1273 (Fla. 1992), this Court again considered the issue of who is deemed a "professional" under Section 95.11(4)(a), this time in a case involving claims brought against a land surveyor. *Id.* at 1274. The Court clarified the test it established in *Pierce* in two respects: first, it held that that "the *equivalent* of a four-year college degree" does *not* satisfy the test; and second, it held that there is "no requirement that the four-year degree itself be in a field of study specifically

⁷ Also not cited by Tiara is *Hardy Equip. Co. v. Travis Crosby & Assocs., Inc.*, 530 So. 2d. 521, 522 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), which applied *Pierce* to claims against an *insurance broker*, holding that the defendant was not a professional for purposes of malpractice statute of limitations "[s]ince no degree in any field is required to sell insurance."

related to the vocation in question[.]" *Id.* at 1275 (emphasis added). In all other respects, however, the Court stated that it would "continue to adhere to the basic definition [of a professional] adopted in *Pierce*." *Id.* Specifically, "in harmony with the central thrust of *Pierce*," the Court held that "a 'profession' is any vocation requiring at a minimum a four-year college degree before licensing is possible in Florida." *Id.*

Finally, in 1999, in Moransais v. Heathman, where this Court first recognized an exception to the economic loss rule for tort claims brought against a "professional," the Court again considered the meaning of the term "professional" under Florida law. 744 So. 2d 973, 977 (Fla. 1999). Moransais involved a claim for professional negligence against an engineer. The Court again relied upon without modification — the test it set forth in Garden. See Moransais, 744 So. 2d at 976 (quoting Garden, 602 So. 2d at 1275). Applying that test, the Court found an engineer to be a "professional" under Florida law because engineers must have a four-year degree to be licensed in Florida. Id. at 976. Thus, while Pierce and Garden may have technically concerned only the definition of a "professional" for purposes of the professional malpractice statute of limitations, *Moransais* makes clear that the same definition and criteria apply for purposes of the "professional services" exception to the economic loss rule established in that case.

Subsequent to the Court's decision in *Moransais*, state and federal courts in Florida consistently have relied upon the "four year degree" definition of "professional" set forth in *Garden* when considering the "professional services" exception to the economic loss rule. See, e.g., Vesta Constr. & Design, LLC v. Lotspeich & Assocs., 974 So. 2d 1176, 1181 (Fla. 5th DCA 2008) ("The Moransais 'exception' to the economic loss rule is *limited* to suits against individual 'professionals,' which our supreme court *narrowly defined* as a person engaged in a 'vocation requiring at a minimum a four-year college degree before licensing is possible in Florida.") (emphasis added) (quoting *Moransais*, 744 So. 2d at 977); Chicago Title Ins. Co. v. Commonwealth Forest Invs., Inc., 494 F. Supp. 2d 1332, 1334 (M.D. Fla. 2007) ("The Court is also unpersuaded ... that the professional Neither title insurance agents nor title malpractice exception ... applies. abstractors fall within *Moransais*' definition of 'profession.'"); Warter v. Boston Sec., S.A., 17 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. D507(a), D512 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 22, 2004) ("[A] securities broker is not a 'professional' for purposes of the economic loss rule because securities brokers are not required to obtain a four-year degree for licensing in Florida."); see also Monroe v. Sarasota Cnty. Sch. Bd., 746 So. 2d 530, 533, 539 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1999) (finding that "teachers/administrators are professionals, as that term is defined in *Moransais*" because "they were licensed teachers whose vocation requires a minimum of a four-year college degree").

Tiara does not contend that insurance brokers, such as Marsh, satisfy the test set forth in *Pierce* and *Garden* and applied in *Moransais* and its progeny. Indeed, Tiara concedes that "Florida's licensing scheme for brokers does not impose a four-year college degree requirement." (Tiara Br. at 47.) Nor does Tiara dispute the absence of other relevant factors such as being subject to discipline for violations of an ethical code, or a required showing of good moral character. Simply put, Marsh is not a "professional" under any definition of that term, including for purposes of the "professional services" exception to the economic loss rule.

In the few pages that Tiara devotes to actually addressing the question certified by the Eleventh Circuit, it fails to explain why the Court's prior decisions on this issue should not be followed. Instead, Tiara asserts that — regardless of what Supreme Court precedent holds — Marsh should be considered a professional because (i) an insured relies on its broker for advice on insurance matters within the broker's "superior knowledge and skill"; and (ii) insurance "brokers owe fiduciary duties to the insured." (Tiara Br. at 47-48.) Tiara's arguments are without merit, and do not warrant a change in Florida law.

The mere giving of advice, even by a party with "superior knowledge," does not make that party a professional. In *Pierce*, the broad definition of "profession" *adopted by the district court*, which it held to include an insurance agent, "focused on the act of the insurance agent giving advice as the primary factor distinguishing professions from other occupations." *Pierce*, 531 So. 2d at 88. In rejecting that definition and reversing the district court's decision, this Court held:

[W]ithout the requirement of sufficient education, *the agent's act of giving advice is hardly the act of a professional*. It is true that an insurance agent frequently has superior knowledge of the insurance field upon which the client may rely. Nonetheless, if such knowledge is not required, the hollow *act of giving advice does not render the advisor a professional*.

Id. (emphasis added).

Nor is the existence of a fiduciary duty indicative of whether an occupation qualifies as a "profession." Indeed, the fiduciary duty owed under Florida law by insurance agents and brokers — which Tiara asserts has been recognized by Florida courts "[s]ince 1969" (Tiara Br. at 31) — did not influence this Court's determination in *Pierce* that an insurance agent is *not* a professional. The same holds true with other occupations as well. For example, although courts in Florida have held that an escrow agent owes a fiduciary duty to the parties to the escrow transaction, *see Decarlo v. Griffin*, 827 So. 2d 348, 351 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), "the vocation of escrow agent does not qualify as a profession . . . because a four-year college degree is not required for an escrow agent." *Mizrahi v. Valdes-Fauli, Cobb & Petrey, P.A.*, 671 So. 2d 805, 806 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) (citing *Garden*, 602 So. 2d at 1273).

Accordingly, under this Court's settled precedents, Marsh is not a "professional" for purposes of the *Moransais* professional services exception to the economic loss rule, and the question certified by the Eleventh Circuit should be answered in the negative.

II. TIARA'S EFFORTS TO REPHRASE THE CERTIFIED QUESTION AND ESTABLISH THAT THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE DOES NOT APPLY TO ITS CLAIMS ARE ALSO WITHOUT MERIT.

Unable to prevail on the actual question certified by the Eleventh Circuit, Tiara seeks to avoid it by "rephrasing" it as two questions: whether an insured's claim against its insurance broker for (1) breach of fiduciary duty and (2) negligence are "subject to the economic loss rule." (Tiara Br. at 1.) Tiara then seeks to answer both questions in the negative, based on two principal contentions, neither of which are correct. *First*, Tiara argues at length that the economic loss rule does not, or should not, apply outside the "products liability" context, and claims that this Court has "receded" from the economic loss rule to the extent it has been applied to "contracts for services." (Tiara Br. at 14-30.) *Second*, Tiara asserts that its claims here for negligence and breach of fiduciary duty are claims based on "extra-contractual duties" and thus are "independent torts excepted from the economic loss rule." (*Id.* at 30-45.)

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